RECEIVED

Dec 14 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-40-00726

Appellate Case No. 2020-001257

Leonard R. Jordan, Jr., as Personal Representative of the Estate of Lil B. Jordan, Petitioner,  
is..... Appellant,

v.

Marian J. Kirk and Lucy J. Fuller are..... Respondents.

[INITIAL] BRIEF OF APPELLANT



S.R. ANDERSON  
S.C. Bar No. 391  
P.O. Box 12188  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 252-2828  
sraatlaw@bellsouth.net

December 14, 2020

*Attorney for Appellant*

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Judge Newman erred by altering Judge Manning's Order.
- II. As Judge Newman heard the same issues considered by Judge Manning (and resolved by his November 2, 2018 Order) and concluded that the findings and conclusions of Judge Manning would not be revisited and, in fact, would be incorporated in her Order, Judge Manning's Order, that "the Respondents (jointly) shall turn-over to the Petitioner the amount of \$37,739.59 (together with interest after October 9, 2018, until paid.)" (R.p. \_\_\_\_), is law of the case.
- III. Judge Newman erred in concluding that the judgment debt was \$37,775.74 when the judgment debt awarded in Judge Manning's Order a year earlier was \$37,739.59. The judgment debt would include, "interest (at the statutory pre-judgment rate) after October 9, 2018, until paid." Respondents acknowledged that the debt calculation was erroneous. (R.p. \_\_\_\_)
- IV. Judge Newman erred by ordering, contrary to her conclusion that Judge Manning's Order would not be revisited, that two-thirds of the judgment owed by Respondents be offset (forgiven), resulting in the full judgment debt not being recoverable by the Estate.
- V. Judge Newman erred by ordering that, ". . . it would be both burdensome and inefficient for Respondents to be required to pay into the estate their own one-third shares of this award" (R.p. \_\_\_\_), when there was no formal, affirmative claim (counterclaim or motion) whereby Respondents requested this relief (i.e. setoff or forgiveness) and when no evidence was presented at trial, and no findings and conclusions were made touching upon this issue.
- VI. Judge Newman's denial of Petitioner's claim for punitive damages was an abuse of discretion.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was appointed by the Richland County Probate Court as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Lil B. Jordan. Petitioner and Respondents are the three adult children and sole beneficiaries of Lil B. Jordan, who died testate on June 5, 2012.

In his capacity as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Lil B. Jordan, Petitioner commenced this action by filing a Summons and Complaint in the Richland County Probate Court on November 22, 2017. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ) In his Complaint, Petitioner asserted three monetary claims on behalf of the Estate of Lil B. Jordan, which, he maintained, were assets (monies) belonging to the Estate of Lil B. Jordan, and which were converted by Respondents to their own use. In their respective Answers, Respondents denied Petitioner's allegations and counterclaimed. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ )

The case was removed from the Probate Court to the Court of Common Pleas.

By Order filed on November 2, 2018 (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ), the Honorable L. Casey Manning granted a partial summary judgment on behalf of Petitioner, finding that Respondents had wrongfully converted certain monies belonging to the Estate. Respondents filed a Motion to Reconsider, Alter or Amend on November 11, 2018. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ) This Motion was summarily denied by a Form 4 Order on November 20, 2018. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ )

By Order filed on December 10, 2018 (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ), Judge Manning granted a money judgment in favor of Petitioner against Respondents, "jointly and individually in the amount of \$37,739.59 plus interest at \$5.83 per day from November 2, 2018 until the entry of this judgment." (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ) This Order did not end the case.

A trial was held on August 20 and 21, 2019. Thereafter, on November 21, 2019, a Verdict and Judgment was entered by the Honorable Jocelyn Newman. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ )

A Motion to Reconsider, Alter or Amend the Verdict and Judgment was filed by Petitioner

on December 2, 2019. (R.p. \_\_\_\_\_) On December 17, 2019, Respondents filed a Response to Petitioner's Motion to Reconsider. (R.p. \_\_\_\_\_) After an unexplained delay of over eight (8) months, Petitioner's Motion was summarily denied by Judge Newman, without comment, by a Form 4 Order filed on August 21, 2020. (R.p. \_\_\_\_\_)

A Notice of Appeal was filed on September 17, 2020. (R.p. \_\_\_\_\_)

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 10, 2010, Respondent Kirk removed all of the funds held in a Wells Fargo bank account, owned by Lil B. Jordan, which account contained no funds belonging to Respondent Kirk (R.p. \_\_\_\_\_), and deposited these funds in a Bank of America account solely owned by Ms. Kirk. (R.p. \_\_\_\_\_) Ms. Kirk did not inform Petitioner about this transfer in 2010 (R.p. \_\_\_\_\_) or in 2012, when Petitioner inquired about account balances in his capacity as Personal Representative. (R.p. \_\_\_\_\_).

When Decedent died on June 5, 2012, these funds (\$21,481.02 more or less (R.p. \_\_\_\_\_) were not the property of Ms. Kirk but were, in fact, an asset of Decedent's Estate. (R.p. \_\_\_\_\_)

Respondent Kirk also converted \$2,480.00 belonging to Mrs. Jordan's Estate. This was the amount of the final long-term care insurance check from Bankers Life Company, which check was issued/received after Decedent's death. It belonged to Decedent, and it had not been held in a joint account at the time of Decedent's death; it was therefore also an asset of Decedent's Estate. (R.p. \_\_\_\_\_)

In May 2014, almost two years after Decedent's death, Respondents divided between themselves both of these two Estate assets. Not coincidentally, Respondent Kirk closed on the purchase of her new house only two weeks after disbursing these funds to herself and her sister.

(R.p. \_\_\_\_)

For another three years, Respondents continued to conceal from Petitioner the existence and disposition of these Estate assets. (R.p. \_\_\_\_) Respondent Kirk finally informed Petitioner on July 27, 2017, of her conversion of these Estate assets. (R.p. \_\_\_\_)

There was one other (a third) claim by Petitioner. This claim also involved monies belonging to Lil B. Jordan, which were held in another Wells Fargo bank account. Respondent Kirk added her name to this bank account in December 2005. Following Decedent's death on June 5, 2012, Respondent Kirk retained possession of the balance of this Wells Fargo account, while representing to Petitioner that the \$23,986.92 (account balance) was an asset to be shown on the Probate Court inventory appraisal form (R.p. \_\_\_\_). In 2015, Respondent Kirk finally made it known to Petitioner that she claimed this account by right of survivorship. (R.p. \_\_\_\_) It was later learned by Petitioner that Respondent Kirk, in 2014, had divided these monies with Respondent Fuller. (R.p. \_\_\_\_)

[Petitioner is no longer pursuing this third claim. Nevertheless, these circumstances remain important in considering Petitioner's claim for punitive damages.]

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

An action for damages for conversion is an action at law, and the findings will not be distributed on appeal unless found to be without evidence reasonably supporting the findings. See *Carjow, LLC v. Simmons*, 349 S.C. 514, 519, 563 S.E.2d 359, 362 (Ct.App. 2002).

## ARGUMENTS

### I. JUDGE NEWMAN ERRED BY ALTERING JUDGE MANNING'S ORDER.

APPELLANT'S POSITION STATEMENT: It was improper for Judge Newman to overrule or alter another circuit court judge's Order.

It would not be appropriate for Judge Newman to overrule (i.e. to substitute her own judgment regarding) an Order of Judge Manning, who is still an active judge and who was, at all relevant times, able to hear and decide the remaining issues in this case.

"There is a long-standing rule in this State that one judge of the same court cannot overrule another." *Charleston County Dep't. of Social Services v. Father (in the Interest of Two Minors)*, 317 S.C. 283, 288, 454 S.E.2d 307, 301 (1995). "It is axiomatic (1) that an order not appealed from is the law of the case, and (2) a Circuit Judge does not have the power to reverse the rulings of another Circuit Judge." *Tisdale v. Amer. Life Ins. Co.*, 216 S.C. 10, 56 S.E.2d 580 (1950).

Judge Manning's Order has not been appealed and is now the law of this case.

### II. AS JUDGE NEWMAN HEARD THE SAME ISSUES CONSIDERED BY JUDGE MANNING (AND RESOLVED BY HIS NOVEMBER 2, 2018 ORDER) AND CONCLUDED THAT THE FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS OF JUDGE MANNING WOULD NOT BE REVISITED AND, IN FACT, WOULD BE INCORPORATED IN HER ORDER, JUDGE MANNING'S ORDER, THAT "THE RESPONDENTS (JOINTLY) SHALL TURN-OVER TO THE PETITIONER THE AMOUNT OF \$37,739.59 (TOGETHER WITH INTEREST AFTER OCTOBER 9, 2018, UNTIL PAID.)" (R.P. \_\_\_), IS LAW OF THE CASE.

APPELLANT'S POSITION STATEMENT: Judge Newman, in the appealed Order, correctly affirmed and incorporated Judge Manning's (now final and not appealed) Order, and she expressly ordered that Respondents "turn-over" to the Petitioner the established monetary judgment debt. She concluded that the Petitioner was "entitled to recover for the estate" such judgment debt; but then she significantly altered Judge Manning's Order (and her own Order) by

improperly revising and limiting (i.e. offsetting) Respondents' obligation under the judgment – all without any affirmative request or argument for such relief by Respondents and without any findings and conclusions made in that regard.

Respondents urged Judge Newman to revisit the issues resolved by the Order issued by Judge Manning on November 1, 2018, and filed on November 2, 2018. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ) Judge Newman agreed, and she permitted testimony on the entire case. Ultimately, she declined to revisit Judge Manning's Order, and she expressly incorporated Judge Manning's Order into her Order. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ )

Judge Manning's Order, as affirmed by Judge Newman, ordered as follows:

1. That the Respondents (jointly) shall **turn-over to the Petitioner the amount of \$37,739.59** (together with interest after October 9, 2018, until paid). (emphasis added)
2. That if the said amount is not paid to the Petitioner, in full, within ten (10) days after the date of filing of this Order, a judgment against the Respondents, jointly and severally, will be entered in said amount (plus additional pre-judgment interest) upon application of the Petitioner. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ) (R.p. \_\_\_\_ )

Judge Newman's Order went further. It also stated the following:

**. . . Petitioner, in his capacity as Personal Representative of Decedent's Estate, is entitled to recover for the estate** the sum of \$2,480 in actual damages on his Banker's Life Claim, as well as \$1,459.55 in prejudgment interest (from December 19, 2012 to September 10, 2019). (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ) (emphasis added)

. . . The Court also adopts and incorporates the November 2, 2018 ruling with respect to the \$21,857.80 that is the subject of Petitioner's Bank of America Claim. **Petitioner, in his capacity as Personal Representative of Decedent's Estate, is entitled to recover for the estate** the sum of \$21,857.80 in actual damages on that claim, together with prejudgment interest in the amount of \$11,978.39 (from June 6, 2012 to September 10, 2019). (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ) (emphasis added)

Judge Newman's Order fails to mention Judge Manning's other Orders. Following the entry of Judge Manning's first Order (November 2, 2018), Respondents filed a Motion to

Reconsider, Alter and Amend on November 11, 2018. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ) This Motion, which only addressed the bar of the statute of limitations,<sup>1</sup> was summarily denied, without a hearing, by Order Denying Defendant’s Motion to Reconsider, Alter, and Amend, filed on November 20, 2018. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ) Then, on December 10, 2018, Judge Manning, in accordance with his November 2, 2018 Order, issued an Order for Judgment granting a money judgment to Petitioner for the full amount of the debt owed by Respondents on the Bankers Life and Bank of America Claims. (R.p. \_\_\_\_ )

To be clear, none of the three (3) Orders issued by Judge Manning addressed the matter of offsetting (forgiving) a portion of the judgment award. One reason that Judge Manning failed to mention such offset was that no such relief was requested by Respondents. No such relief was requested in Respondents’ Answer or in any motion.

At the conclusion of the trial, Judge Newman announced her ruling, leaving undecided only the issue of Petitioner’s claim for punitive damages as to the Bank of America account money (\$23,858.40). (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ) She orally ruled, with regard to Judge Manning’s Order, as follows:

**... as to the balance awarded by Judge Manning already, I affirm that, for lack of better word, and that will become final judgment in this case.** (R.p. \_\_\_\_ )  
(emphasis added)

The foregoing ruling was announced just minutes after Respondents’ counsel first raised in closing argument, that “there is a set-off argument.” (R.p. \_\_\_\_ )

Judge Newman did not rule that Judge Manning’s Order would be modified (avoided) under any legal theory, including offsetting (forgiving).

Based upon her aforesaid conclusions, Judge Newman ordered as follows:

... Petitioner Leonard R. Jordan, Jr., on behalf of the Estate of Lil B. Jordan, is awarded (1) the sum of \$2,480 in actual damages plus the sum of \$1,459.55 in prejudgment interest on his Banker’s Life Claim; and (2) the sum of \$21,857.80 in

---

<sup>1</sup> In other words, said Motion did not raise the issue of offsetting (or forgiving) a portion of the award or make any other argument.

actual damages and the sum of \$11,978.39 in prejudgment interest on his Bank of America Claim. (R.p. \_\_\_\_)

Notwithstanding that she expressly affirmed and incorporated (without change) Judge Manning's Order (November 2, 2018) (R.p. \_\_\_\_),<sup>2</sup> Judge Newman then proceeded to significantly alter Judge Manning's Order.

Without any related findings or other explanation, Judge Newman specifically altered Judge Manning's Order as follows:

. . . [b]ecause it would be both burdensome and inefficient for Respondents to be required to pay into the estate their own one-third shares of this award, Respondents Marian J. Kirk and Lucy J. Fuller may fully satisfy and discharge their obligations under this Order by paying one-third of this award (or \$12,591.91) to the estate, together with an instrument renouncing any claims that they may have to that amount. In that event, Respondents will remain liable for any reasonable expenses incurred by the estate in collecting this amount, as determined by the Probate Court. (R.p. \_\_\_\_)

This portion of Judge Newman's Order is without evidentiary support and is contrary to her own ruling, and it should be stricken.

III. JUDGE NEWMAN ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE JUDGMENT DEBT WAS \$37,775.74 WHEN THE JUDGMENT DEBT AWARDED IN JUDGE MANNING'S ORDER A YEAR EARLIER WAS \$37,739.59. THE JUDGMENT DEBT WOULD INCLUDE, "INTEREST (AT THE STATUTORY PRE-JUDGMENT RATE) AFTER OCTOBER 9, 2018, UNTIL PAID." RESPONDENTS ACKNOWLEDGED THAT THE DEBT CALCULATION WAS ERRONEOUS (R.P. \_\_\_\_)

APPELLANT'S POSITION STATEMENT: Respondents admit that the judgment debt cited in Judge Newman's Order is incorrect. The judgment debt (as calculated below) is the correct amount due (as of November 21, 2020).

---

<sup>2</sup> Judge Newman, by her in-court ruling and by her Order, made it clear that she:

- Affirmed the Manning Order (R.p. \_\_\_\_);
- Declared that the Manning Order would become a final judgment (R.p. \_\_\_\_);
- Declined to revisit the Manning Order (R.p. \_\_\_\_); and
- Incorporated the Manning Order (R.p. \_\_\_\_).

Respondents' Response to Petitioner's Motion to Reconsider, filed on December 17, 2019, acknowledges that the Verdict and Judgment:

. . . includes prejudgment interest only through September 10, 2019 (the date on which Respondents submitted a proposed Order for the Court's consideration). Respondents acknowledge that the final judgment should include an additional 72 days of prejudgment interest . . . (R.p. \_\_\_\_)

and is also mistaken due to miscalculated prejudgment interest. (R.p. \_\_\_\_)

A correct calculation of the judgment-debt, which includes interest to November 21, 2019,<sup>3</sup> follows:

Judgment Calculation

Amount Awarded (Principal)	\$ 37,739.59
Interest from November 2, 2018, through December 10, 2018 (39 days), at \$5.83 per day (per Judgment)	\$ 227.37
SUBTOTAL	\$ 37,966.96
Interest from December 11, 2018, through November 21, 2019 (346 days), at 8.75% per annum (pre-judgment rate)	\$ 3,130.32
SUBTOTAL	\$ 41,097.28
Interest from November 22, 2019, through January 14, 2020 (54 days), at 9.50% per annum (post-judgment rate)	\$ 577.61
SUBTOTAL	\$ 41,674.89
Interest from January 15, 2020, through May 22, 2020 (129 days), at 8.75% per annum (post-judgment rate)	\$ 1,267.44
Costs added to Judgment by Order filed on May 22, 2020	\$ 402.18
SUBTOTAL	\$ 43,344.51
Interest from May 23, 2020, through November 1, 2020 (163 days), at 8.75% per annum (post-judgment rate)	\$ 1,617.17
TOTAL as of November 1, 2020	\$ 44,961.68

NOTE: the judgment-debt continues to accrue interest after November 1, 2020, at the post-judgment rate(s), compounded annually after November 21, 2020.

<sup>3</sup> Petitioner acquiesces in Respondents' argument that Judge Manning's Order for Judgment was not (then) a "final" judgment. As it has not been appealed, said Order for Judgment is now "final."

IV. JUDGE NEWMAN ERRED BY ORDERING, CONTRARY TO HER CONCLUSION THAT JUDGE MANNING'S ORDER WOULD NOT BE REVISITED, THAT TWO-THIRDS OF THE JUDGMENT OWED BY RESPONDENTS BE OFFSET (FORGIVEN), RESULTING IN THE FULL JUDGMENT DEBT NOT BEING RECOVERABLE BY THE ESTATE.

APPELLANT'S POSITION STATEMENT: The offset of two-thirds of the gross judgment debt, which was properly entered against Respondents by two judges, is improper, as it fails to protect Petitioner's ability to pay estate expenses, including attorney's fees incurred by Petitioner in this suit as well as his other estate-related expenses, and will likely result in additional litigation.

As discussed above under Argument II., the judgment awarded by Judge Manning (and affirmed by Judge Newman) was intended to benefit Petitioner (i.e. the Estate). It was not awarded to Mr. Jordan individually. Judge Newman's Order seems to suggest a point-of-view that the suit was initiated by Mr. Jordan personally, rather than in his capacity as Personal Representative of the Estate. The Estate (as opposed to Mr. Jordan personally) is the actual judgment-creditor.

Importantly, the judgment debt, which Judge Manning and then Judge Newman awarded to the Estate (to Petitioner, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Lil B. Jordan),<sup>4</sup> must be collected by the Estate (Petitioner) to pay, first, all Estate-expenses, including attorney's fees incurred by Petitioner in connection with this suit, as well as Petitioner's other expenses, before disbursing the net balance to the three beneficiaries.<sup>5</sup>

It is obvious that setoff language was inserted by Respondents' counsel into Judge Newman's Order purposely to reduce the attorney's fees earned by Petitioner's counsel, who

---

<sup>4</sup> Judge Manning ordered that Respondents **turn-over** to Petitioner the full amount of the judgment (R.p. \_\_\_\_), and Judge Newman ordered that Petitioner is entitled to **recover** the full amount of the judgment for the estate (R.p. \_\_\_\_). (emphasis added)

<sup>5</sup> As stated by Mr. Jordan, "The estate should have that money and be able to disburse all of that in accordance with the normal practices with the personal representative handling the estate." (R.p. \_\_\_\_)

agreed to handle this case on a contingency-fee basis (based upon a percentage of the monies recovered). (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ) By significantly reducing the amount recovered, the attorney's fee earned by Petitioner's counsel (subject to approval by the Probate Court) would also be significantly reduced. Respondents would like us to believe that, by adding: "Respondents will remain liable for any reasonable expenses incurred by the estate in collecting this amount, as determined by the Probate Court" (R.p. \_\_\_\_ ), sufficiently protects Petitioner and his counsel; but based upon Respondents' history of refusing to acknowledge their obligations to the Estate, as well as their demonstration of an unwillingness to pay such obligations, even when sued and after a judgment was entered against them, one should be concerned that this procedure will likely result in additional litigation.

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