RECEIVED

Feb 12 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-40-00726

Appellate Case No. 2020-001257

Leonard R. Jordan, Jr., as Personal Representative of the Estate of Lil B. Jordan,

Appellant,

v.

Marian J. Kirk and Lucy J. Fuller,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Stephen M. Cox
scox@rbh.com
S.C. Bar No. 12263

ROBINSON BRADSHAW & HINSON, P.A.
202 East Main Street, Suite 201
Rock Hill, South Carolina 29730
(803) 325-2900

Attorneys for Respondents

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. **Judge Newman’s Verdict and Judgment of November 21, 2019 did not impermissibly overrule Judge Manning partial summary judgment ruling of December 10, 2018.**

Although Appellant purports to assert six distinct “Issues on Appeal,” his first, second and fourth Issues amount to the same argument: that Judge Newman impermissibly overruled Judge Manning’s grant of partial summary judgment when she issued her Verdict and Judgment on November 21, 2019. Appellant is mistaken—for several reasons.

First, Appellant overstates the rule in South Carolina that one circuit court judge may not overrule another, particularly with respect to a partial summary judgment ruling. A partial summary ruling is subject to the clear command of S.C.R. Civ. P. 54(b), which provides:

When more than one claim for relief is presented in an action . . . the court may direct the entry of a final judgment only upon an express determination that there is no just reason for delay and upon an express direction for the entry of judgment. In the absence of such determination and direction, any order or other form of decision, however designated, which adjudicates fewer than all the claims . . . shall not terminate the action as to any of the claims or parties, and the order or other form of decision *is subject to revision at any time before the entry of judgment adjudicating all the claims and the rights and liabilities of all the parties.*

(emphasis added). Here, Judge Manning’s December 2018 order granting partial summary judgment did *not* make “an express determination that there [was] no just reason for delay,” nor did that order expressly direct entry of final judgment. Accordingly, Judge Manning’s order was subject to revision at any time before final adjudication of all claims in the case.² Appellant has cited no South Carolina case holding that a trial judge is preventing from exercising the discretion expressly granted her by Rule 54(b) to revisit a prior partial summary judgment ruling. It would have been neither improper nor inappropriate for Judge Newman to have done so here, especially because she had the benefit of a full evidentiary and testimonial record, while Judge Manning was limited to consideration of the papers presented to him at a motion hearing.

Because Appellant ignores the controlling language of Rule 54(b), it is not surprising that he also misapprehends the law of the case doctrine. That doctrine “prohibits issues which have been decided in a prior appeal from being relitigated in the trial court in the same case.” *Ross v. Medical Univ. of S.C.*, 328 S.C. 51, 62, 492 S.E.2d 62, 68 (1997). But *before* a case has been appealed, Rule 54(b) makes it clear that a trial court is free to revisit a partial summary judgment ruling that has not been determined

² Judge Manning implicitly accepted Respondents’ arguments on these points when he held that his partial summary judgment ruling was not a “final judgment” and quashed Plaintiff’s Writ of Execution. *See* Motion To Quash, pp. 1, *et seq.*; Order Granting Motion, at p. 1.

and directed to be a final judgment. *See Ashenfelder v. City of Georgetown*, 389 S.C. 568, 575, 698 S.E.2d 856, 861 (2010) (reviewing Rule 54(b) and noting repeatedly that a ruling with respect to fewer than all claims is “subject to revision”). As Rule 54(b) makes clear, such a partial ruling is *not* binding “law of the case,” but can be modified at any time by the trial court prior to entry of judgment on all claims.

Ultimately, however, the foregoing legal observations are beside the point, because Judge Newman expressly declined to revisit Judge Manning’s ruling. Indeed, at the conclusion of the trial, she ruled from the bench as follows:

As to the partial summary judgment granted by Judge Manning, I don’t intend to disturb that. That will become final judgment.

Tr. p. 235. In so doing, Judge Newman declined to consider, at a minimum, substantial evidence showing that Appellant’s Banker’s Life Claim was barred by the same limitations period and principle of estoppel that barred his Wells Fargo Claim.³ Just as Judge Manning had done, Judge Newman granted the Estate its actual damages and prejudgment interest on its Bankers Life Claim and Bank of America Claim. Tr. p. 235.

B. Judge Newman’s Verdict and Judgment of November 21, 2019 avoided an inequitable windfall to the Estate and fully preserved the estate’s ability to recover its reasonable expenses (including a reasonable attorneys’ fees).

Appellant Jordan, a licensed member of the Bar, admitted at trial that his sisters were entitled to their one-third shares of whatever the Estate recovered in this action (net of expenses). Tr. pp. 114-15. Heeding this concession, Judge Newman sensibly

³ Judge Newman denied from the bench Plaintiff’s Wells Fargo Claim, finding it barred by the applicable statute of limitations and the doctrine of estoppel. She also found that the Wells Fargo account was a joint account that passed to Kirk, by operation of law, upon Mrs. Jordan’s death. Appellant has not appealed Judge Newman’s ruling with respect to the Wells Fargo Claim.

concluded that Respondents did not need to tender *their own shares* of the \$2,480.00 Bankers Life Claim and the \$21,858.40 Bank of America Claim to the Estate, since the Estate would simply be handing those shares right back to them. It would have been especially burdensome and unjust to force Respondents to tender prejudgment interest on those shares. Prejudgment interest, after all, is supposed to compensate a party for the loss of use of money, and the Respondents had not lost the use of their shares of the Bankers Life Claim and the Bank of America Claim.

With all of these considerations in mind, Judge Newman fashioned a remedy that (i) ensured the Estate would be made whole, (ii) paid fidelity to Judge Manning’s partial summary judgment ruling, and (iii) prevented the Estate from reaping a windfall and the Respondents from suffering an undue burden. She provided in her Verdict and Judgment that Respondents could fully discharge their obligations to the Estate by paying one-third of the Bank of America Claim and Bankers Life Claim to the Estate, renouncing any claims to the Estate, and agreeing to be responsible for the reasonable expenses of the Estate in this action (as determined by the Probate Court). *Verdict and Judgment*, pp. 13-14. Respondents adopted this course of action by tendering the full amount ordered by the Court and renouncing any further claims to the Estate on August 31, 2020—within ten (10) days of the trial court’s denial of Jordan’s Motion To Reconsider the Verdict and Judgment.

Appellant has challenged the remedy fashioned by Judge Newman on a variety of grounds. First, he contends that the remedy is in the nature of setoff—an affirmative defense that was neither pled nor argued at trial. *App. Init. Br.* at p. 12. Appellant is mistaken, for three reasons. First, both Respondents *did* plead the defense of setoff in

their answers, albeit with respect to services that they rendered to the Estate. *Kirk Ans.* at p. 5; *Fuller Ans.* at p. 5. More to the point, however, and contrary to what Appellant claims, Respondents' counsel *extensively* argued at the closing of the trial in favor of the remedy ultimately adopted by Judge Newman. Tr. pp. 230-234. Appellant did not object to that argument or attempt to counter it. *Id.* Accordingly, to the extent the remedy was an unpled affirmative defense, it was tried by implied consent. *See* S.C.R. Civ. P. 15(b) ("When issues not raised in the pleadings are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings."); *Fraternal Order of Police v. S.C. Dep't of Rev.* 352 S.C. 420, 435, 574 S.E.2d 717, 725 (2002) ("In order to be tried by implied consent, the issue must have been discussed extensively at trial."); *Woods v. Rabon*, 295 S.C. 343, 347, 368 S.E.2d 471, 474 (Ct. App. 1988) (noting that litigant who fails to object to evidence on a issue impliedly consents to the trial of that issue).

Most importantly, however, the remedy adopted by Judge Newman was *not* in the nature of a setoff. Instead, it represented a calculation of the actual damages suffered by the Estate and a means of ensuring that the Estate would not reap a windfall. Jordan had argued at trial that the Estate should be allowed to recover from Respondents \$21,858.40 on his Bank of America Claim and \$2,480.00 on his Bankers Life Claim, plus prejudgment interest on those sums. But as noted above, Respondents are two of the three beneficiaries of the Estate who are entitled to two-thirds of the Estate's assets. It would have been absurd to allow the Estate to "recover" from Respondents money that already belonged to them, and much more absurd to require Respondents to pay themselves several years' worth of prejudgment interest on that "recovery." To avoid the

burdensome inequity of requiring Respondents to pay to the Estate money that was already theirs, Judge Newman required Kirk and Fuller (i) to pay to the Estate only the one-third share of the Bank of America Claim and Bankers Life Claim that did not belong to them and (ii) to remain liable to the Estate for any reasonable expenses incurred by the Estate in this Action. *Verdict and Judgment*, pp. 13-14. This result was fully consistent with Judge Manning’s partial summary judgment ruling, which made the Estate whole on the Bank of America Claim and Bankers Life Claim. It gave the Estate all of the damages to which it was entitled and avoided a windfall.

“Courts have the inherent power to do all things reasonably necessary to ensure that just results are reached to the fullest extent possible.” *Robinson v. Estate of Harris*, 389 S.C. 360, 371, 698 S.E.2d 801, 807 (2010). Judge Newman did just that—ensuring that Jordan, as the remaining beneficiary of the Estate, would receive his fair share of the Bank of America and Banker’s Life Claims and that the Estate could recover from Respondents its reasonable expenses (as determined by the Probate Court). In fact, the remedy fashioned by Judge Newman gives Jordan (as beneficiary) substantially *more* than the result that he himself advocated at trial. The difference in the two approaches is illustrated by Appendix A to this brief, a demonstrative chart similar to one presented to Judge Newman at trial. Tr. pp. 230-31. That chart shows that, under the approach urged by Jordan, he would receive only \$8,911.95 as beneficiary of the Estate. Under the approach advocated by Respondents (and adopted by Judge Newman), he will receive \$13,367.93.⁴

⁴ These outcomes calculate prejudgment interest through November 21, 2019—the date of Judge Newman’s Verdict and Judgment.

Why, one might ask, is Jordan urging a result that would give him substantially *less* than he will receive under Judge Newman’s Judgment, especially when that Judgment keeps Respondents on the hook for reasonable Estate expenses? The answer is attorneys’ fees. Jordan entered into a contingent fee arrangement with the Estate’s lawyer in this action by which counsel would receive an escalating percentage of the Estate’s recovery depending on the stage of the proceedings. Tr. pp. 112-13. This percentage was 33% at the time of trial and could go as high as 40%. Tr. p. 113. Under that agreement, the Estate’s lawyer would recover a percentage of Respondents’ own shares of the Bank of America Claim and Bankers Life Claim that came into the Estate, even though the Estate would not really have “recovered” those shares at all. Tr. pp. 115-16. Put another way, under the approach urged by Jordan, his sisters would be required to pay their two-third shares of the Bank of America and Bankers Life Claims into the Estate (a total of \$16,0633, plus prejudgment interest), have the Estate’s lawyer take between 33%-40% of that amount, and then receive it right back again.

The absurdity and injustice of this approach is shown on Appendix A. Indeed, under this approach, the Estate’s lawyer ends up receiving far more than any of the beneficiaries, including Mr. Jordan himself. It was no doubt to avoid this inequity, and “to ensure that just results are reached to the fullest extent possible,” *Robinson, supra*, 389 S.C. at 371, 698 S.E.2d at 807, that Judge Newman ruled as she did.

As Appellant acknowledged at trial, the amount of attorneys’ fees to be awarded to Jordan (as Personal Representative in this action) is ultimately for the Probate Court to decide. Tr. 50, 194. The Probate Court’s oversight and authority over such fee awards is prescribed by S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-720, which provides that a personal

representative is entitled to “his necessary expenses and disbursements including reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred” for any action that he “prosecutes . . . in good faith.” The key word here is “reasonable.” The Probate Court will not be bound by a contingent fee arrangement struck between Jordan and the Estate’s counsel when determining a proper attorneys’ fee award. *See Jackson v. Speed*, 326 S.C. 289, 308, 486 S.E.2d 750, 759 (1997) (“When determining the reasonableness of attorneys’ fees under a statute mandating the award of attorneys’ fees, the contract between the client and his counsel does not control the determination of a reasonable hourly rate.”). Instead, the Probate Court will be required to determine the amount of the fee by applying judicially established criteria. *Blumberg v. Nealco*, 310 S.C. 492, 494, 427 S.E.2d 659, 660 (1993) (setting forth the six factors that a court must consider when determining a reasonable attorneys’ fee). Indeed, the Probate Court may decide not to award an attorneys’ fee at all, given Jordan’s prior misrepresentations to the Probate Court, the needless litigation in this action that resulted from those misrepresentations, and the fact that Jordan commenced this lawsuit on the Estate’s behalf only after first pursuing the same claims individually against Kirk alone.

In any event, as Appellant has conceded, the determination of a reasonable attorneys’ fee and an award of reasonable Estate expenses is for the Probate Court to make. Judge Newman’s Verdict and Judgment allows for that determination and award and obligates Respondents to satisfy it. Appellant’s suggestion that Respondents will violate the Probate Court’s ultimate order on this issue is meritless. Respondents tendered the full amount of Judge Newman’s Judgment to Appellant within ten (10) days

of the denial of Appellant's Motion To Reconsider. They stand ready, willing and able to do the same thing with respect to any order that the Probate Court may enter.

C. Judge Newman rightly determined that Respondents should not be required to pay any punitive damages.

Appellant also challenges the trial court's refusal to award him punitive damages. As noted above, the trial court is granted wide discretion when determining whether and to what extent to award such damages. *Mellen, supra*, 377 S.C. at 292, 659 S.E.2d at 252-53 (affirming trial court's denial of punitive damages). This Court must affirm that decision if there is "any evidence" to support it. *Id.* Moreover, our State's appellate courts have regularly acknowledged that it is the trial court that is in the "best position to judge the witnesses' credibility." *Matter of Estate of Kay*, 423 S.C. 476, 480, 816 S.E.2d 542, 545 (2018). As the Supreme Court explained in *Lucht v. Youngblood*, 266 S.C. 127, 221 S.E.2d 854 (1976):

The reasonableness of the verdict was challenged before the trial judge and he reduced it. The fact he heard the evidence and was more familiar than we with the evidentiary atmosphere at trial gives him, we think, a better informed view than we have. This is particularly true when the elements of damage are intangibles and the appraisal depends somewhat on an observation of the [witnesses] and evaluation of their testimony.

266 S.C. at 138, 221 S.E.2d at 860.

Punitive damages are not available to every plaintiff who suffers an intentional tort. Rather, such damages are reserved for cases in which the plaintiff has shown, by clear and convincing evidence, that "the defendant's conduct was willful, wanton, or in reckless disregard of the plaintiff's rights." *Taylor v. Medenica*, 325 S.C. 200, 221, 479 S.E.2d 35, 46 (1996). Even then, the trial court retains discretion to deny punitive damages. *See Mellen, supra*, 377 S.C. at 292, 659 S.E.2d at 252-53 (affirming trial

court's denial of punitive damages despite a finding by the trial court that defendant had committed an "intentional and deliberate act which was willful, wanton, reckless and malicious under the circumstances").

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